**RECEIVED**

**Mar 19 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable William C. McMaster, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT DANIEL MISTRETТА,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001473

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

W. CHANDLER NORVILLE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the provision of the 2023 Bond Reform Act, which requires circuit courts to refuse to credit time served if a person is re-arrested, without regard to the nature or severity of either offense or whether the person is convicted after the subsequent arrest, is unconstitutional?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant pled guilty under direct presentment to attempted kidnapping on July 9, 2025, before the Honorable William C. McMaster, III. Appellant was represented by Charles W. Snyder. R. 1. Peyton C. Swancy represented the state. R. 1. Judge McMaster sentenced Appellant to fifteen (15) years' imprisonment, with one day time-served credit. R. 17. The explanation for an appeal from a guilty plea required by Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR, stated that Appellant was appealing the plea court's refusal to award credit for time served. R. 28. On July 25, 2025, this Court allowed the appeal to proceed. R. 29.

This appeal follows.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only.” *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 591, 828 S.E.2d 203, 209 (2019) (citing *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law.” *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

A statute is presumed constitutional, and the validity will be upheld, unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McSwain*, 445 S.C. 276, 282-83, 914 S.E.2d 124, 127 (2025). This general presumption of validity can be overcome only by a clear showing the act violates some provision of the constitution. *Doe v State*, 421 S.C. 490, 501, 808 S.E.2d 807, 813 (2017).

## ARGUMENT

The provision of the 2023 Bond Reform Act that requires trial courts to deny credit for time served when a person is arrested on a subsequent offense is unconstitutional.

### **Relevant facts and procedural history**

Appellant was arrested on August 16, 2023 for kidnapping.<sup>1</sup> The Greenville County grand jury indicted Appellant by direct presentment for attempted kidnapping, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910, on May 27, 2025. R. 30-31. Appellant remained in pre-trial detention from the time of his arrest, up until the time of his guilty plea. Appellant pled guilty to attempted kidnapping on July 9, 2025. R. 1.

During the plea hearing, the state informed the trial court that Appellant had been serving “dead time” on this charge since April of 2023, because at the time of his arrest he had been out on bond for indecent exposure.<sup>2</sup> R. 12. According to the state, Appellant was only entitled to time-served credit for the original charge, one day. R. 12. Appellant countered by asserting that the statute was unconstitutional and requested credit for the entire time served, 694 days. R. 12-13. Plea counsel referenced “at least two lawsuits” challenging the constitutionality of the bond statute. R. 13.

The plea court refused to give Appellant credit for the greater than two years he spent in pre-trial detention awaiting trial. R. 17. The plea court sentenced Appellant to fifteen years’ imprisonment, with credit for one day time served and ordered Appellant to register as a sex offender. R. 17. On July 25, 2025, this Court permitted this appeal to proceed. R. 29. The indecent exposure charge was dismissed without being indicted. *See supra*, n. 2.

---

<sup>1</sup> *See State v. Robert D. Mistretta*, Greenville County Case No. 2025-GS-23-01973. This case was dismissed the same day as Appellant pleaded guilty to attempted kidnapping. R. 27.

<sup>2</sup> *See State v. Robert D. Mistretta*, Greenville County Case No. 2023A2320601016.

## **Discussion**

The Bond Reform Act provides for the criminal punishment of citizens for being arrested—not convicted—of a crime. This is facially unconstitutional and unconstitutional as applied to Appellant.

Section 24-13-40(3) was part of the 2023 Bond Reform law passed by the General Assembly and signed by Governor McMaster on June 20, 2023. *Bond Reform*, S.C. Acts No. 83, § 8 (2023). Prior to the passage of this act, there were only two exceptions to the general rule that all persons must be given full credit for time served: (1) the prisoner who was incarcerated pre-trial was an escapee; and (2) the prisoner was serving a sentence for one offense while awaiting trial on another. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (West 2013). The Bond Reform law added two new exceptions – the one at issue here and another that denies time-served credit for any person whose bond was revoked. See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (3, 4) (current). South Carolina appears to be the only state with a similar sentencing regime. Kimberly Ferzan, *The Trouble with Time Served*, 48 B.Y.U. L. REV. 2001, 2005-06 & n.11 (2023) (collecting statutes).

**A. The bond statute places an unconstitutional condition on the right to a trial by jury.**

The bond statute unconstitutionally conditions the fundamental right to a jury trial on the loss of time-served credit. For this reason, the statute is unconstitutional, both facially and as applied to Appellant.

“[T]he government may not deny a benefit to a person because he exercises a constitutional right.” *Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Mgmt. Dist.*, 570 U.S. 595, 604 (2013) (quoting *Regan v. Taxation with Representation of Wash.*, 461 U.S. 540, 545 (1983)). For example, a public university violates a professor’s freedom of speech by refusing to renew his

contract for speaking against the university. *Perry v. Sindermann*, 408 U.S. 593 (1972). And a county government violates the right to travel by only extending healthcare benefits to “those indigent sick who had been residents of the county for at least one year.” *Koontz*, 570 U.S. at 604 (citing *Memorial Hosp. v. Maricopa Cnty.*, 415 U.S. 250 (1974)). The general purpose of the “unconstitutional conditions doctrine” is to “vindicate the Constitution’s enumerated rights by preventing the government from coercing people into giving them up.” *Id.* Simply, even if the Constitution does not grant a “right” to a specific government benefit, the government cannot deprive a person of that benefit “on a basis that infringes on his constitutionally protected interests.” *Perry*, 408 U.S. at 597. Because permitting the government to do so would permit “the government to produce a result which it could not command directly.” *Id.* (quoting *Speiser v. Randall*, 357 U.S. 513, 526 (1958)).

“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury...” U.S. Const. amend. VI. “The right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. The right to a trial by jury is among the most important of all fundamental constitutional rights. It is “the only [right] to appear in both the body of the Constitution and the Bill of Rights—it is operating upon the spinal column of American democracy.” *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 30 (1999) (Scalia, J., dissenting); compare U.S. Const. amend. VI with U.S. Const. art. III, § 2. There is an “inseparable connection between the existence of liberty and the trial by jury.” FEDERALIST NO. 83 (Hamilton). And the absolute language of the Sixth Amendment makes the right to a jury trial one of the few, if not the only, absolute rights. See U.S. Const. amend. VI (“In *all* criminal prosecutions...” (emphasis added)). By the Sixth Amendment’s terms, a government cannot force a person to waive their right to a jury trial. Any person charged with an offense who asks for one, must receive one. Of course,

most do not. *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 134, 144 (2012) (“plea bargaining...is not some adjunct to the criminal justice system; it *is* the criminal justice system” (emphasis in original)).

Under the statute at issue here, however, a person who is arrested twice must make an insidious decision about exercising their right to a jury trial. A person who wants to be tried by a jury could potentially wait months or years to have their case brought to trial, time that they will not be credited for under the statute. In such a situation, a person is forced to choose between their rights and their liberty. The Constitution, however, does not permit the state to force such a choice. The state cannot indirectly force a decision which it could not constitutionally compel directly. *Speiser*, 357 U.S. at 526. By creating a statutory regime which provides no time-served credit, the state creates two groups of individuals: those who quickly plead guilty and thus lose very little liberty and those who go to trial and thus lose months or years of liberty. *See Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 520 (1972) (“If an accused cannot make bail, he is generally confined...in a local jail. This contributes to the overcrowding and generally deplorable state of those institutions”). In this way, the state conditions a benefit—getting out of jail sooner—on the waiver of the constitutional right to a jury trial; this, it cannot do. *See Perry*, 408 U.S. at 597.

Appellant’s case presents another interesting wrinkle. The offense for which Appellant was originally charged—and the offense for which he was out on bond for, triggering application of the statute at issue—was dismissed. Appellant was not convicted of that offense. Therefore, Appellant was forced to spend nearly two years in prison for which he will not be credited because he was previously *accused*—not convicted—of an entirely different crime.

For these reasons, the denial of time-served credit places unconstitutional conditions on Appellant’s right to a trial by jury. Therefore, the statute is unconstitutional. This case should be reversed.

**B. The bond statute violates the due process clause.**

Appellant was denied nearly two years of time-served credit because of a prior arrest for a crime which the state dismissed. By requiring that trial courts shall not award time-served credit to any person who is arrested while out on bond for another charge, S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3) violates the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, § 3 of the South Carolina Constitution both facially and as applied to Appellant. Accordingly, this case should be reversed.

“No State shall... deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law...” U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3 (similar). “Nor [shall any state] deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” *Id.* The Due Process Clause contains two different types of protections. Procedural due process protects against the deprivation of a constitutionally protected interest unless the government provides the person with, at minimum, “notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review.” *State v. Binnarr*, 400 S.C. 156, 165, 733 S.E.2d 890, 895 (2012) (quoting *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm’n*, 376 S.C. 165, 171, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008)). But due process “guarantees more than fair process,” it also “provides heightened protection against government interference with certain fundamental rights and liberty interests.” *Washington v. Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. 701, 719-20 (1997). Substantive due process is used to protect freedoms that are not specifically enumerated in the Constitution but are “deeply rooted in this Nation’s history and tradition.” *Id.* at 721; *see also, e.g., Loving v. Virginia*, 388 U.S. 1 (1967) (right to marry); *Griswold v. Connecticut*, 381 U.S. 479 (1965) (marital privacy). The main purpose of substantive due process is to prevent the government from engaging in conduct that “shocks the conscience,” or “interferes with rights implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.” *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 746 (1987) (citing, *inter alia*, *Rochin v. California*, 342 U.S. 165, 172 (1952)).

Determining whether a due process violation has occurred involves a two-step inquiry: first, the court must determine whether the interest involved is a protected legal interest, and second, the court must determine “what process is due under those circumstances.” *Bd. of Regents of State Colls. v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 571-73 (1972). Courts typically do this by reviewing the challenged law under differing levels of constitutional scrutiny. *In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 140, 568 S.E.2d 338, 346-47 (2002). A statute that infringes upon a fundamental right must satisfy strict scrutiny, the most exacting scrutiny available. *Id.* at 140-41, 568 S.E.2d at 347. To satisfy strict scrutiny, the state must show that its statute is narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest. *Id.* If a fundamental right is not implicated, then courts review using rational basis, wherein the law will be upheld if it is rationally related to a legitimate government purpose. *State v. McSwain*, 445 S.C. 276, 283-84, 914 S.E.2d 124, 127-28 (2025).

The first question is whether S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3) implicates a fundamental right. The most fundamental of all rights is the right of the citizenry to their personal liberty. U.S. Const. amend. XIV (“No State shall...deprive any person of life, *liberty*, or property, without due process of law...” (emphasis added)).

“Without question, imprisonment is recognized as one of the greatest deprivations of liberty.” *Binnarr*, 400 S.C. at 165, 733 S.E.2d at 895. “Freedom from bodily restraint has always been at the core of the liberty protected by the Due Process Clause from arbitrary governmental action. It is clear that commitment for any purpose constitutes a significant deprivation of liberty that requires due process protection.” *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 80 (1992) (collecting cases; internal citations omitted). “There can be no doubt the length of an inmate’s incarceration

implicates a constitutional liberty interest.” *Tant v. South Carolina Dept. of Corr.*, 408 S.C. 334, 341, 759 S.E.2d 398, 401 (2014).

Generally, a person may not be committed to imprisonment without being convicted and sentenced by a court; a person may not be detained pre-trial unless it is required to ensure his presence in court. *State v. Ellefson*, 266 S.C. 494, 500, 224 S.E.2d 666, 669 (1976) (citing *Stack v. Boyle*, 342 U.S. 1 (1951)). “The state’s interests in bail or pretrial incarceration are to insure [sic] the presence of the accused at trial and to protect the public from a potentially dangerous recidivist.” Note, *Credit for Time Served Between Arrest and Sentencing*, 121 U. PENN. L. REV. 1148, 1154 (1973). And the Due Process Clause forbids punishment prior to conviction and sentencing. *See, e.g., Bell v. Wolfish*, 441 U.S. 520, 534 (1979); *Salerno*, 481 U.S. at 747; *see also, e.g., State v. Cook*, 37 Wash. App. 269, 271-72, 679 P.2d 413, 415 (1984) (“The restrictions on a person’s liberties suffered by pretrial detention is no less ‘punishment’ than that imposed by the disposition order”); *cf. also, North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 718-19 (1969) (the constitutional guarantee against multiple punishments for the same offense absolutely requires that punishment already exacted must be fully ‘credited’ in imposing sentence upon a new conviction for the same offense”), *overruled in part on other grounds by Alabama v. Smith*, 490 U.S. 794 (1989).

***1. The bond statute fails under strict scrutiny.***

Since the statute implicates a fundamental right—liberty itself—the next question is what level of scrutiny should apply. The answer is strict scrutiny. *Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. at 140, 568 S.E.2d at 347 (applying strict scrutiny to substantive due process challenge to Sexually Violent Predator Act because it implicated the fundamental right of “freedom from bodily restraint”). To

satisfy strict scrutiny, the statute must be narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest.

*Id.*

The General Assembly did not expressly provide its purpose for restricting time-served credit based on a subsequent arrest while on bond. This denial is one of a few exceptions to the general rule that full credit for all time served prior to trial must be awarded. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40.<sup>3</sup> It can be inferred that the General Assembly’s aim was to deter the commission of crimes while already out on bond,<sup>4</sup> but the General Assembly provides neither a preamble nor prefatory language to that effect. *See generally*, S.C. Acts No. 83, *supra*. The absence of any articulated intent leaves this Court without any guidance from the General Assembly.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> To be sure, this state’s statutes did not always require time-served credit for pre-trial detention. However, this fact is not particularly relevant to this discussion because the previous statutes were unconstitutional several times over. For example, the prior S.C. Code Ann. § 55-10 (Michie Co. 1952) provided that a prisoner who appealed their conviction was only entitled to credit from the date of the “commencement of the service of their sentence.” This seemingly odd inclusion makes sense when considering that both pre-trial bonds and appellate bonds were significantly more common at this time. The present bond statute seems to represent a desire to return to 1950s era credit statutes while simultaneously attempting to make the obtainment of bond significantly more difficult. In this way, the new bond law has taken the worst components of ancient and antiquated criminal justice statutes without also bringing along those that benefit those accused with criminal offenses. Secondly, these older statutes predated the Supreme Court’s decision in *Williams v. Illinois*, 399 U.S. 235 (1970), discussed *infra*, and were amended—like most other states’—quickly thereafter. *See, e.g., State v. Dozier*, 263 S.C. 267, 272-73, 210 S.E.2d 225, 227 (1974) (discussing 1973 amendment to time-served credit statute, which essentially mirrors the version in effect at the time of the bond reform act’s adoption).

<sup>4</sup> Henry McMaster, *Signing Statement*, H. 3532 (Bond Reform) (June 20, 2023) (“urgent need for the General Assembly to close the ‘revolving door’ for repeat offenders and career criminals”).

<sup>5</sup> It is true that acts of the General Assembly carry a presumption of constitutionality. *McSwain*, 445 S.C. at 283-84, 914 S.E.2d at 127-28. However, this does not mean that acts are never unconstitutional, and it certainly does not mean that this Court must abandon its well-established tiers of scrutiny analysis—all of which require the Court to weigh the General Assembly’s *purpose* against the right implicated, especially when the General Assembly articulated no interest. *See id.* (rational basis review); *Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. at 140, 568 S.E.2d at 346-47 (strict scrutiny).

But continuing from the presumption that the General Assembly’s goal is to deter the commission of crimes while already out on bond, the statute is not narrowly tailored. Deterring criminal behavior or protecting society from the same is a compelling government interest.<sup>6</sup> *See Salerno*, 481 U.S. at 747. However, the new statute is not narrowly tailored to that aim.

To be narrowly tailored to a compelling government interest, the law must be “necessary” to achieve that interest. *See Students for Fair Admissions, Inc. v. President and Fellows of Harvard College*, 600 U.S. 181, 207 (2023). An instructive example is the South Carolina Supreme Court’s treatment of the Sexually Violent Predator Act (“SVP Act”). Facing a substantive due process challenge to the SVP Act, that court determined that strict scrutiny applied. *Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. at 140, 568 S.E.2d at 347. The SVP Act was found to satisfy strict scrutiny because it was narrowly tailored to apply only to “a limited subclass of dangerous persons,” who by reason of mental illness were “likely to commit a dangerous act.” *Id.* at 144, 568 S.E.2d at 349 (citing *Kansas v. Crane*, 534 U.S. 407, 412 (2002)). The SVP Act would not, however, be constitutional if it permitted the state to civilly commit any individual convicted of a sex crime without any determination that he had some disorder preventing him from controlling his behavior. *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 412 (“We do not agree with the State...as it seeks to claim that the Constitution permits commitment of the type of dangerous offender...without any lack-of-control determination” (emphasis deleted)).

---

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