STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
William C. McMaster, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001473

The State,Respondent,

v.

Robert Daniel Mistretta,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

CINDY S. CRICK
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 E. North Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's arguments that the trial court's denial—in apparent compliance with section 24-13-40 of the South Carolina Code—of time-served credit for the time he spent in jail awaiting sentencing on the crime for which he was convicted, placed an unconstitutional condition on his right to a jury trial and violated his substantive due process rights, are not preserved for appellate review because they were not sufficiently raised to or ruled upon by the circuit court. In any event, because: (1) the plea court sentenced Appellant within statutory limits for his crimes, (2) the alleged chilling effect on the right to a jury trial is speculative, and (3) Appellant does not have a fundamental right to credit for presentence jail time where it is not part of the punishment imposed; the statutory denial of the desired credit did not constitute an unconstitutional condition and did not infringe upon substantive due process.

Appellant argues the trial court erred by denying him, due to his commission of a subsequent crime while on bond, time served credit for the time that he spent in jail awaiting

sentencing, because S.C. Code § 24-13-40(3) placed an unconstitutional condition on his right to a jury trial and violated his substantive due process rights, resulting in **694 days** served but not credited.² He contends the statute is unconstitutional both facially and “as applied.” In regard to the unconstitutional condition claim, Appellant argues the statute unconstitutionally conditions the fundamental right to a jury trial on the loss of time served credit. He contends that because a person who wants a jury trial “could potentially wait months or years to have their case brought to trial,” the statute effectively forces the waiver of the right to a jury trial by conditioning the benefit of “getting out of jail sooner” on waiver of that right. (Brief of Appellant, p.5-p.8). In regard to substantive due process, Appellant contends the statute is facially invalid because there can be no valid application where it is not narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling state interest and where it infringes upon a fundamental constitutional right—personal liberty. (Brief of Appellant, p.8-p.16). He further contends that even if it fails to impact a fundamental right, the bond statute likewise fails under rational basis review because it is arbitrary and not reasonably related to any lawful purpose. (Brief of Appellant, p.16-p.18). Finally, with no analysis, Appellant contends that even if not facially invalid, the statute is nevertheless “unconstitutional as applied.” (Brief of Appellant, p.5). The State disagrees and submits Appellant’s overall argument and his associated sub-arguments should all be denied and dismissed on several grounds.

² Based on the solicitor’s argument, defense counsel’s response, and comments from the judge, the plea court’s refusal to award credit for presentence detention time seems to have been based on subsection (3) of section 24-13-40 [“credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given . . . when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond”], rather than subsection (4) of section 24-13-40 [“credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given . . . when the prisoner . . . has bond revoked on any charge prior to trial or plea”]. Regardless of which subsection was applied, the lack of any specific objection or particular reference to the subsection on which the parties relied serves to highlight the issue preservation problem discussed below.

A. Issues Not Preserved for Appeal

First and foremost, the arguments raised in Appellant's brief are not preserved for appellate review because they were not adequately raised to and ruled upon by the lower court. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the Appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court *with sufficient specificity*. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

This issue preservation requirement applies to assertions of constitutional violations. *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 432, 735 S.E.2d 471, 477 (2012); *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282 (Ct. App. 2005). Indeed, our courts have consistently held that a constitutional claim must be raised and ruled upon to be preserved for appellate review. *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 552, 564 S.E.2d 87, 91 (2002); *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001); *Hoffman v. Powell*, 298 S.C. 338, 380 S.E.2d 821 (1989). "A bald assertion, without supporting argument, does not preserve an issue for appeal." *McCracken* at 92, 551 S.E.2d at 235.

Here, Counsel took the position that the statute was unconstitutional and said he believed it would eventually be overturned, but Counsel *never articulated how or why* the statute was allegedly unconstitutional. (R.p.12-p.16). He certainly did not argue it was an unconstitutional condition on Appellant's right to a jury trial and he never mentioned substantive due process, claimed it infringes upon a fundamental right, or asked the plea court to evaluate it under strict scrutiny or the rational basis test. Even though the plea judge said the objection was noted, the

court *also* failed to reference due process or any other constitutional provisions in applying the terms of the statute. (R.p.12, lines 3-21). Thus, regardless of whether there is any merit to the questions of whether the statute at issue constitutes an unconstitutional condition or violates substantive due process (which the State strongly contends it does not), Appellant was obligated to specifically bring those issues and his arguments to the attention of Judge McMaster before or during the plea proceeding and to obtain a ruling. Because Appellant failed to do so, this entire matter should not be addressed on appeal and the lower court's order should simply be affirmed without further discussion.³

B. Issues are Without Merit

If this Court determines Appellant's arguments were both sufficiently specific to be preserved for appellate review *and* not waived pursuant to his free and voluntary guilty plea, they are nevertheless without merit because: (1) the plea judge acted well within his discretion by sentencing Appellant within statutory limits, (2) the claim the statute would have a chilling effect on the exercise of the right to a jury trial is entirely speculative, and (3) Appellant did not have a fundamental right to credit for presentence jail time where presentence jail time is *not* part of the sentence imposed. Consequently, the statutory amendments prohibiting the award of credit for

³ Arguably, Appellant's argument is also unpreserved because Appellant affirmatively waived all constitutional rights as part of his guilty plea. South Carolina does not recognize conditional guilty pleas. *State v. Rice*, 401 S.C. 330, 331, 737 S.E.2d 485, 485 (2013); *State v. Truesdale*, 278 S.C. 368, 370, 296 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1982). Indeed, a guilty plea constitutes a waiver of non-jurisdictional defects and claims of violations of constitutional rights. *Rice*, at 331-32, 737 S.E.2d at 485-86. Appellant's attempt to challenge the denial of credit as a violation of his constitutional rights *after* he knowingly and voluntarily waived those rights and entered a guilty plea is akin to offering a conditional guilty plea. The State acknowledges sentencing is a separate issue from guilt and a distinct phase of the criminal process, *Easter v. State*, 355 S.C. 79, 81, 584 S.E.2d 117, 119 (2003); however, where Appellant's challenge is based on an alleged constitutional violation that was triggered by his *pre-plea* decision to either commit a new crime while out on bond or do something that got his bond revoked, it is distinguishable from a mere *post-plea* challenge to the imposition of a sentence. *State v. Tucker*, 376 S.C. 412, 418, 656 S.E.2d 403, 406-07 (Ct.App.2008) (finding a defendant's plea of guilty waived any challenge to his conviction based on an alleged pretrial violation of statutorily prescribed procedure). Additionally, Appellant testified, under oath, that he had not been forced, threatened, or pressured to give up his rights and plead guilty. (R.p.9). This affirmative waiver should, at the very least, eliminate Appellant's attempt to argue the statute creates an unconstitutional condition.

presentence jail time do not constitute unconstitutional conditions and they do not infringe upon substantive due process, either on their face or “as applied” to Appellant.

1. Sentence was within Statutory Limits

A judge is allowed broad discretion in sentencing within statutory limits.” *Garrett v. State*, 320 S.C. 353, 356, 465 S.E.2d 349, 350 (1995). Absent partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to disturb a sentence that is within the limit prescribed by statute. *State v. Barton*, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997). When reviewing a sentencing issue on appeal, an appellate court will only interfere with a sentencing judge’s sentencing decisions in rare and unusual circumstances in light of the broad discretion afforded to sentencing judges on such matters. *State v. Ferguson*, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952); *see State v. Sidell*, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974) (“A broad discretion is allowed the trial judge in imposing sentence within the legal limits.”).

Here, the sentence imposed by the plea court—fifteen (15) years—fell well below the statutory maximum sentence for the offense—thirty (30) years. As explained by the court during the plea proceeding, Appellant faced a sentencing exposure of thirty (30) years for attempted kidnapping. (R.p.4). Even if 694 days of credit were added to the sentence imposed, the resulting sentence of sixteen (16) years and three hundred and twenty-nine (329) days would still fall substantially short of the maximum thirty (30) year penalty that could have been imposed for the charge.

Although not without exception,⁴ where a trial court has imposed a sentence of less time than the maximum, courts have generally upheld the denial of credit based on the rebuttable or

⁴ Certain authorities recognize a defendant’s right to presentence jail credit where the custody was *solely* due to the defendant’s financial inability to make bail, and a denial of credit would therefore be considered discriminatory. 21 AM. JUR. 2D *Criminal Law* § 743 (2025); *see e.g., Ange v. Paderick*, 521 F.2d 1066 (4th Cir. 1975).

conclusive presumption that the trial court took the presentence jail time into consideration. 21 AM. JUR. 2D *Criminal Law* § 743 (2025); *See Durkin v. Davis*, 538 F.2d 1037, 1040 (4th Cir. 1976) (recognizing the right to credit for jail time awaiting trial on a bailable offense is sometimes constitutionally mandated, but also acknowledging the general limitation on any right to such credit where the sentence, when increased by that time, does not exceed the maximum sentence, because of the generally recognized presumption that the sentencing judge had given credit in his or her sentence to such jail time); *State v. Starr*, 521 P.2d 1126 (Ariz. 1974) (holding that when the actual sentence imposed plus the time in jail does not exceed the maximum sentence which could be imposed, it will be conclusively presumed that the sentencing court gave the defendant credit for all presentence time spent in jail). In this case, given the lower-than-maximum sentence imposed [despite the plea judge’s warning that he could impose a thirty (30) year sentence], there is simply no way the refusal to award 694 days of credit could have infringed upon Appellant’s right to substantive due process, or any other of Appellant’s constitutional rights. Appellant has failed to demonstrate any rare and unusual circumstances that would warrant this Court interfering in the plea court’s discretionary sentencing decision. Therefore, the plea court’s credit ruling should be affirmed.

2. Does not Constitute an Unconstitutional Condition

Appellant argues the statute unconstitutionally conditions the fundamental right to a jury trial on the loss of time served credit. He contends that because a person who wants a jury trial “could potentially wait months or years to have their case brought to trial,” the statute effectively forces the waiver of the right to a jury trial by conditioning the benefit of “getting out of jail sooner” on waiver of that right. (Brief of Appellant, p.5-p.8).

But Appellant's claim is belied by the plain text of the statute, which makes no connection between the entitlement to credit and the manner in which the charges are disposed. Indeed, there is simply no statutory relationship between the entitlement to credit and the exercise of the right to a jury trial. Indeed, offending defendants are denied credit whether they plead guilty or are convicted after trial. Furthermore, Appellant's attempt to show that the statute will have a chilling effect on defendants' exercise of their right to a jury trial rests on pure speculation and is untethered from the facts of this case. Appellant never alleged he pled guilty in order to avoid accruing additional time in pretrial incarceration for which he would not be credited upon conviction. Rather, Appellant told the plea judge, under oath, that he had not been forced, threatened, or pressured to give up his rights and plead guilty. (R.p.9). Thus, the allegedly coercive statute could not have created an unconstitutional condition "as applied" to Appellant.

Appellant speculates the statute could nevertheless chill the exercise of all defendants' rights to a jury trial. But defendants are equally likely to insist on, rather than forego, a jury trial when faced with the denial of credit upon conviction. In fact, Appellant's argument seems to rely on the assumption that defendants will necessarily be found guilty at trial. Under our jury trial system and the high burden of proof, such an assumption is far from valid. Defendants could reasonably decide to file a motion for speedy trial and seek acquittal rather than plead guilty. Alternatively, defendants could seek reconsideration of their bond order. Surely the statute will not impermissibly burden the right to a jury trial in every case, as must be shown to mount a successful facial challenge. In fact, neither subsection (3) nor subsection (4) of section 24-13-40 has any bearing on whether bail will be granted or the amount of time a defendant will spend in pretrial incarceration.

And even if the denial of credit for time served created additional *incentive* to plead guilty, this would not make the statute unique or unconstitutional. Appellant asserts the statute forces defendants “to choose between their rights and their liberty.” (Brief of Appellant, p.7). But every criminal defendant must balance the costs and benefits of exercising their right to a jury trial. Waiver of that right nearly always results in substantial reduction in their sentence. This does not make pretrial incarceration, or lenient plea offers, unconstitutional. *See Corbitt v. New Jersey*, 439 U.S. 212, 218 (1978) (explaining “not every burden on the exercise of a constitutional right, and not every pressure or encouragement to waive such a right, is invalid”). The bond statute certainly does not “force” any defendant to plead guilty, much less all defendants. Consequently, the allegedly coercive statute does not create a facially unconstitutional condition.

3. Statute Complies with Substantive Due Process

Appellant contends section 24-13-40(3) is unconstitutional both facially and “as applied” to him because it so clearly violates the due process clauses in our federal and state constitutions. This argument, however, relies in whole or in part on a single flawed premise: that presentence detention is punishment, and therefore the denial of credit for time spent in custody prior to sentencing is punishment. Neither aspect of this premise is true; therefore, Appellant cannot meet the high burden of showing that section 24-13-40(3) is facially invalid or invalid “as applied” on substantive due process grounds.

a. Presentence Detention is *not* part of the Punishment for a Crime

“It has been traditionally held that *in the absence of an applicable statute to the contrary*, the defendant does not have a fundamental right to credit for time spent in custody prior to trial

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